
LIST OF SMSC COURT OF APPEALS OPINIONS 
 

Index Vol. 4 
2020-2023 
 
Nguyen v. Gustafson,  
Ct. App. 045-19 
SMSC Ct. App. Jan. 23, 2020 ................................................................................. 4 Shak. A.C. 1 
 
Nguyen v. Gustafson,  
Ct. App. 046-19 
SMSC Ct. App. Feb. 10, 2020 .............................................................................. 4 Shak. A.C. 18 
 
Jones v. Steinhoff,  
Ct. App. 050-20 
SMSC Ct. App. June 12, 2020 .............................................................................. 4 Shak. A.C. 19 
 
Great Northern Ins. Co. v. Hamilton,  
Ct. App. 048-20 
SMSC Ct. App. June 15, 2020 .............................................................................. 4 Shak. A.C. 21 
 
Nguyen v. Gustafson,  
Ct. App. 047-20 
SMSC Ct. App. July 10, 2020............................................................................... 4 Shak. A.C. 27 
 
Nguyen v. Gustafson,  
Ct. App. 049-20 
SMSC Ct. App. Aug. 10, 2020 ............................................................................. 4 Shak. A.C. 42 
 
Nguyen v. Gustafson,  
Ct. App. 046-19 
SMSC Ct. App. Sept. 1, 2020 ............................................................................... 4 Shak. A.C. 51 
 
Parent of Child. in Need of Assistance v. Fam. & Child. Servs. Dep’t,  
Ct. App. 053-23 
SMSC Ct. App. Oct. 16, 2023 .............................................................................. 4 Shak. A.C. 57 
 



Johnson v. Brooks-Johnson,  
Ct. App. 052-23 
SMSC Ct. App. Oct. 17, 2023 .............................................................................. 4 Shak. A.C. 62 
(Hogen, J., dissenting) ......................................................................................... 4 Shak. A.C. 84 
 
Crooks v. Crooks, 
Ct. App. 056-23 
SMSC Ct. App. Dec. 28, 2023 .............................................................................. 4 Shak. A.C. 96 
 
 



4 Shak. A.C. 001



4 Shak. A.C. 002





4 Shak. A.C. 004



4 Shak. A.C. 005



4 Shak. A.C. 006



4 Shak. A.C. 007



4 Shak. A.C. 008



4 Shak. A.C. 009



4 Shak. A.C. 010



4 Shak. A.C. 011



4 Shak. A.C. 012





4 Shak. A.C. 014



4 Shak. A.C. 015



4 Shak. A.C. 016



4 Shak. A.C. 017



4 Shak. A.C. 018



COURT  OF APPEALS 

OF THE 

SHAKOPEE MDEWAKANTON SIOUX COMMUNITY 

SMSC RESERVATION STATE OF MINNESOTA 

Daniel Edwin Jones, 

Appellant, 

File No. CT. APP. 491-02 
 vs. 

ORDER DISMISSING APPEAL 

Michelle Marie Steinhoff, 

Respondent. 

On May 28, 2020, Jones filed a Notice of Appeal of Judge Jacobson’s Order dated May 

4, 2020. Jones requests that this Court review the Trial Court’s statement on emancipation, 

arguing that he no longer is required to make child-support payments because the minor turned 

18 and is therefore emancipated. While Appellant contends that Judge Jacobson’s Order “is 

believed and understood to be a final determination by the trial court,” he acknowledges that 

trial-court proceedings are ongoing.1 

Rule 31(a) of our Rules of Civil Procedure provides that “[i]n any action before the 

Tribal Court where a three-Judge panel has not heard the matter, a party may appeal any decision 

of the assigned Judge that would be appealable if the decision had been made by a judge of a 

United States District Court.” Appealability of federal district-court orders is governed by 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1291 and 1292. Section 191 permits appeals from “all final decisions of the district 

1 Jones Notice of Appeal at 2. 
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courts,” and Section 1292 permits appeal of interlocutory orders in certain limited circumstances 

not applicable here.  

As Jones acknowledges, Judge Jacobson’s decision is not final. In paragraph 3 of the 

Order, Judge Jacobson states that he is taking Steinhoff’s request to direct Jones to continue 

making child-support payments under advisement. Jones contends that interlocutory appeal is 

warranted because 

(1) the outcome of the case would be conclusively determined by the issue
appealed, (2) the matter appealed is collateral to the merits; (3) and the matter
would be effectively unreviewable if immediate appeal were not allowed.2

Although Jones cites no authority for this test, we have used it before in Little Six Inc. v. 

Prescott, 1 Shak. A.C. 77, 78 (Sept. 9, 1997). Known as the collateral-order doctrine, it 

permits appeal of orders conclusively deciding issues separate from the merits that would 

be unreviewable after final judgment. Here, however, Judge Jacobson is still considering 

the child-support issue, so Jones cannot meet even the first of the three criteria for appeal 

of a collateral order. 

ORDER 

The Notice of Appeal is DISMISSED as the Order appealed is not appealable under Rule 

31(a) of this Court’s Rules of Civil Procedure. 

Date: June 12, 2020 Per Curiam. 

2 Jones Notice of Appeal at 2. 
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COURT OF APPEALS 
OF THE  

SHAKOPEE MDEWAKANTON SIOUX COMMUNITY 

SMSC RESERVATION STATE OF MINNESOTA 

Great Northern Insurance Company, 

Appellant, 

vs. 

Michael Hamilton, in his capacity as 
Conservator for the Estate of Amanda 
Brewer-Ross. 

Court File No. Ct. App. 048-20 

Order Dismissing Appeal 

On April 17, 2020, Great Northern Insurance Company appealed from a Tribal 

Court order denying its motion to dismiss based on “duplicity, and. . . . lack of personal 

and subject-matter jurisdiction.” Because Great Northern’s notice did not address the 

appealability of the order, we asked the parties to brief that threshold issue. We have 

considered the parties’ arguments and now dismiss the appeal. 

Analysis 

“In any action before the Tribal Court where a three-Judge panel has not heard 

the matter, a party may appeal any decision of the assigned Judge that would be 

appealable if the decision had been made by a judge of a United States District Court.” 

4 Shak. A.C. 021

Lynn
Appeals

Lynn
Lynn Initials

Lynn
Typewritten Text
Filed on June 15, 2020



 2 

SMSC R. Civ. P. 31(a). Appealability of federal district court orders is governed by 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1291 and 1292. 

Under Section 1291, appellate courts “have jurisdiction of appeals from all final 

decisions of the district courts.” Generally, this requires “a decision by the District 

Court that ends the litigation on the merits and leaves nothing for the court to do but 

execute the judgment.” See Van Cauwenberghe v. Biard, 486 U.S. 517, 521 (1988) (quotation 

omitted). 

Here, Great Northern recognizes that the Tribal Court order has not ended the 

litigation and that “the case has not been determined on its merits.” App. Memo. at 2. 

Instead, Great Northern argues that the Tribal Court order falls within a “‘narrow 

exception to the normal application of the final judgment rule’” for orders that 

determine collateral claims of right. Id. (quoting Midland Asphalt Corp. v. United States, 

489 U.S. 794, 798 (1989)). This so-called “collateral order doctrine” applies to “orders 

which (1) conclusively determine disputed questions, (2) are separate from the merits of 

the action, and (3) . . . would be effectively unreviewable on appeal from a final 

judgment.” Little Six Inc. v. Prescott, 1 Shak. A.C. 77, 78 (Sept. 9, 1997). Though the 

parties dispute the presence of all three conditions, we choose to dispose of the matter 

based on the first and third. 
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Turning to the first condition, Great Northern appears to argue that the Tribal 

Court order conclusively determines the question of its jurisdiction and “duplicity” of 

the action. App. Memo. at 3. We disagree. 

The Tribal Court decided that Hamilton had made a prima facie case that subject-

matter jurisdiction existed under Community law and the consensual-relationship 

exception under Montana v. United States, 450 U.S. 544, 565-66 (1981), and that personal 

jurisdiction existed under Community law and the minimum-contacts test under In re 

the Marriage of Nguyen and Gustafson, ___ Shak. A.C. ___, No. Ct. App. 045-19, Slip Op. at 10-

12 (Jan. 21, 2020), and International Shoe Co. v. Washington, 326 U.S. 310 (1945). Order at 2, 

17, 22, 33-35, 47.1 In order for the Tribal Court to reach its decision, it analyzed the 

following jurisdiction limits: 

• The Tribal Court has “original jurisdiction over all civil causes of action 
arising on lands subject to the jurisdiction of the . . . Community.” SMSC 
Resolution 11-14-95-003, § I. 

• “A tribe may regulate, through taxation, licensing, or other means, the 
activities of nonmembers who enter consensual relationship with the tribe or 
its members, through commercial dealing, contract, leases, or other 
arrangements.” Montana, 450 U.S. at 565-66; see Strate v. A-1 Contractors, 520 
U.S. 438, 456 (1997) (applying Montana in the context of tribal-court 
jurisdiction). 

• The Tribal Court has personal jurisdiction over “all persons whose actions 
involve or affect the . . . Community or its members, or where the person in 
question enters into consensual relationships with the Community or its 

 
1 The Tribal Court declined to address Hamilton’s argument below that Montana does 
not apply because of the land status at issue of that Montana’s self-government 
exception applies. Order at 18, 24. We do not opine on those issues here. 
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members through commercial dealings, contract, leases, or other 
arrangements.” SMSC Resolution 11-14-95-003, § II. 

• The Tribal Court has personal jurisdiction over persons who “have certain 
minimum contacts with [the Community] such that the maintenance of the 
suit does not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice.” 
International Shoe Co., 326 U.S. at 316 (quotation omitted). 

As Hamilton intimates, these are fact-intensive inquiries. See Resp. Memo. at 4-5. And 

further proceedings may bring the Tribal Court to a different conclusion. A decision to 

deny a motion to dismiss does not preclude the Tribal Court from revisiting the 

question of its jurisdiction in a motion for summary judgment—a motion that will 

require a greater showing by Hamilton. See Wilderness Society v. Griles, 824 F.2d 4, 16 

(D.C. Cir. 1987). Similarly, as the case proceeds, Great Northern can reassert its concerns 

regarding the status of the parallel federal-court action. Thus, the Tribal Court order is, 

by its nature, a tentative determination of the question of jurisdiction and “duplicity.” 

See Cohen v. Beneficial Indus. Loan Corp., 337 U.S. 541, 546 (1949). 

Turning to the third condition, Great Northern argues that “[i]f the case proceeds 

to a conclusion on the merits, the jurisdiction issue effectively becomes unreviewable 

because the time, expense and efforts of the court and both parties will have already 

been incurred.” App. Memo. at 3 (emphasis in original). We are unpersuaded by this 

argument. Great Northern does not contend that it will be unable to seek review of its 

arguments on appeal from a final judgment, nor is there “reason to suspect that [Great 

Northern] will be unable to obtain effective review.” Petroleos Mexicanos Refinancion v. 

4 Shak. A.C. 024
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M/T King A (EX-TBILISI), 377 F.3d 329, 334 (3d Cir. 2004). “Cases abound where a 

victorious plaintiff's judgment evaporates on appeal after final judgment when the 

court of appeals holds that the district court lacked . . . jurisdiction.” Id. And although 

we agree that continued proceedings will result in increased time and expense for the 

parties and the Tribal Court, an “argument that the court’s order may be burdensome in 

‘ways that are only imperfectly reparable by appellate reversal of a final . . . judgment 

. . . has never sufficed’ to satisfy the third condition” of the collateral-order doctrine. 

Nice v. L-3 Communications Vertex Aerospace LLC, 885 F.3d 1308, 1312 (11th Cir. 2018) 

(quoting Mohawk Indus., Inc. v. Carpenter, 558 U.S. 100, 107 (2009)). It will not suffice 

here. 

Because the first and third conditions of the collateral-order doctrine are not met 

in this case, we hold that the Tribal Court order may not be treated as a final decision 

under Rule 31(a). 

Finally, the Company notes that interlocutory decisions—such as the Tribal 

Court order—are immediately appealable under Section 1292(b) if “(1) the order 

involves a controlling question of law; (2) there is substantial ground for difference of 

opinion; and (3) certification will materially advance the ultimate termination of the 

litigation.” App. Memo. at 3 (quoting White v. Nix, 43 F.3d 374, 377 (8th Cir. 1994)) 

(internal quotations omitted). While the Company correctly recites the test set out by 

Section 1292(b) and White, it does not explain how the Tribal Court order satisfies that 

4 Shak. A.C. 025
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test. Like other courts, “[w]hen a party includes no developed argumentation on a 

point, as is the case here, we treat the argument as waived.” Anderson v. City of Boston, 

375 F.3d 71, 91 (1st Cir. 2004); see also United States v. Dunkel, 927 F.2d 955, 956 (7th Cir. 

1991). Thus, we decline to consider this argument. 

Order 

For the foregoing reasons, the appeal is dismissed and the case is remanded to 

the Tribal Court for further proceedings. 

Dated June 15, 2020       Per Curiam 

4 Shak. A.C. 026



COURT OF APPEALS OF THE SHAKOPEE MDEWAKANTON SIOUX COMMUNITY 

SMSC RESERVATION      STATE OF MINNESOTA 

James Van Nguyen, 

Appellant. 

vs. File No. Ct. App. 047-20 

Amanda Gustafson, 

Respondent. 

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER 

This appeal arises from a January 6, 2020 Memorandum Opinion and Order of the Trial Court 

that granted a motion by the Respondent Amanda Gustafson (“Gustafson”) that (i) sought a modification 

of the portions of the Trial Court’s May 3, 2019 Order (“May 3 Order”) that governed legal custody, 

physical custody, and visitation, for the parties’ child, and (ii) sought monetary sanctions against the Ap-

pellant James Van Nguyen (“Nguyen”).  For the reasons set forth below we affirm in part and reverse in 

part. 

1. Proceedings before May 3, 2019.

This is the third time that the parties have been before us.  Much of the history of their litigation, 

in the Courts of the Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux Community and in other jurisdictions, is set forth in 

our opinion in James Van Nguyen v. Amanda Gustafson, File No. Ct. App. 045-19 (Jan. 21, 2020), and 

need not be repeated here.  But aspects of that history bear directly on the questions presented to us.  Spe-

cifically, the time that certain disputes were presented to the Trial Court is central to the manner in which 

we resolve the appeal from the Trial Court’s sanctions. 

Proceedings in the Trial Court began in July, 2017, when Gustafson petitioned to dissolve her 

marriage to Nguyen.  Thereafter, pretrial activity did not go smoothly, and on June 28, 2018, Gustafson 

4 Shak. A.C. 027
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moved for an order directing Nguyen to respond to certain discovery requests and sought an award of the 

attorney’s fees she incurred in bringing the motion.  The Trial Court heard her motion on July 13, 2018, 

and ordered Nguyen to provide complete responses to the requests at issue, while reserving any ruling on 

Gustafson’s request for sanctions.  

Gustafson’s sanctions motion had not been ruled on before September 19, 2018, when the trial 

was scheduled to begin, and on that date, the parties reached a stipulated settlement that was read into the 

record and that the Trial Court approved.  The record does not indicate that, in the stipulation, Gustafson 

preserved the right to object to, or to seek sanctions for, Nguyen’s failure to respond to the discovery re-

quests that were the subject of her sanctions motion. 

One of the terms that the parties agreed to in their stipulation had to do with title to and occu-

pancy of a house located at 5511 Southwood Drive in Bloomington, Minnesota (“the Bloomington Prop-

erty”).  For a period of time, the parties had lived together in the Bloomington Property, and at the time of 

their stipulated settlement Nguyen continued to reside there; but under the stipulation, Gustafson received 

title to the property, together with the responsibility for paying significant past-due real estate taxes, and 

Nguyen agreed to vacate the property not later than October 17, 2018.  In the event, however, he re-

mained in the Bloomington Property past that date, he would be subject to sanctions by the Court.  Ngu-

yen did not vacate the property by October 17, 2018. Gustafson, therefore, sought an order directing him 

to leave, and on November 7, 2018, the Trial Court entered an Order –  

 

7. … directing [Nguyen] to immediately vacate the property located at 5511 Southwood 

Drive, in the City of Bloomington, State of Minnesota, and that if necessary, law enforce-

ment from the City of Bloomington and Hennepin County shall be engaged to assist in his 

removal from these premises. 

 

8.  In the event … Nguyen refuses to immediately vacate these premises, this Court will 

then consider appropriate additional sanctions being levied against [him]. 

 

    

As we discussed in James Van Nguyen v. Amanda Gustafson, File No. Ct. App. 045-19 (Jan. 21, 

2020), the parties were unable to reduce their September 19, 2018 stipulated agreement to a formal writ-

ing, and additional disputes arose between them. Therefore, to implement the stipulation that had been 

read into the record, the Trial Court, on February 13, 2019, entered an Order for Partial Judgment, with-

holding entry of its Order to permit the parties to file objections.  Within the time provided, each party did 

file objections; and having received those materials the Trial Court then entered the May 3 Order.   
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2. The May 3 Order. 

 In the May 3 Order, the Trial Court granted the parties joint legal custody of parties’ child, speci-

fying – 

 

Legal custody means that the parents shall share in the making of major parental decisions 

in the best interests of the child in the areas of education, religion and health.  The parties 

are granted joint physical custody of the minor child of the parties and parenting time shall 

be scheduled on a four day on/four day off rotation to allow quality time to be spent by 

both parties with the minor child  as set forth in Conclusions of Law 81… .   

 

The Trial Court’s Conclusion of Law 8 set forth an elaborate grid, listing birthdays, holidays, and cultural 

events2, and included a vacation schedule: 

 

Vacation Schedule:  Each party is granted three non-consecutive weeks of vacation time 

with the minor child, which shall superseded [sic] the four-day rotation schedule, and 

which shall not disrupt the above holiday schedule.  Said vacation time shall be selected 

and mutually agreed upon no later than April 1st of the year for which said vacation time is 

sought. 

 

 

The May 3 Order also specified that the parties would appoint a Parenting Consultant, and it set 

forth in detail that person’s responsibilities and authority for handling “issues regarding parenting time, 

requests to modify custody, school selection, and whether to seek out therapy for the minor child”3. 

Finally, as relevant here, the May 3 Order said: “The Court will schedule an evidentiary hearing 

on [Gustafson’s] request for sanctions.”4   

 

3. Events after May 3, 2019. 

The filing of the May 3 Order did not end the parties’ conflicts.  Significant disagreements arose, 

repeatedly, relating to parenting time for the parties’ child, and to the school she would attend, and to the 

appointment of the parenting consultant that the May 3 Order contemplated.  On June 7, 2019, Gustafson 

brought a motion relating to the parenting consultant’s non-appointment.  On June 17, 2019, Nguyen filed 

a “Declaration for Change of Custody of Minor Child” and Memorandum of Law but did not file a mo-

tion relating to those filings.  Also, on June 17, 2019, Nguyen’s attorney filed a Motion to Withdraw as 

 
1  May 3 Order, at 21.  
2  In an earlier appeal, we modified one aspect of that schedule, relating to the Vietnamese holiday of Tet. 
James Van Nguyen v. Amanda Gustafson, File No. Ct. App. 045-19 (Jan. 21, 2020). 
3  May 3 Order, at pp. 26 – 29. 
4  Ibid, at 6.   
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counsel.  Thereafter, in June, August, and September, the parties sent the Trial Court multiple letters con-

cerning their disputes relating to their child’s school registration and denial of parenting time.  On Octo-

ber 7, 2019, Nguyen filed a motion seeking child support, although the parties had stipulated that neither 

would seek child support from the other.  On October 21, 2019, Gustafson moved for (i) sanctions against 

Nguyen for having failed to timely vacate the Bloomington Property, (ii) sanctions for having failed to 

respond in a timely fashion to a draft Judgment and Decree to implement the September 19, 2018 stipula-

tion, (iii) sanctions for having failed to properly respond to discovery requests that preceded the Septem-

ber 19, 2018 stipulation, (iv) sanctions for having failed to cooperate in the selection of the Parenting 

Consultant that the September 19, 2018 stipulation contemplated, (v) an order directing Nguyen to return 

any of her personal property that he continued to possess, and (vi) an order granting Gustafson sole legal 

and physical custody of the parties’ child and limiting Nguyen’s visitation to alternating weekends, vaca-

tions, and holidays, and extended time during summer months “as the Court deems appropriate.”  And on 

October 31, 2019, the day that the Trial Court had scheduled an evidentiary hearing on all of the issues 

that then were before it, Nguyen filed a Notice of Motion and Motion for Additional Educational Support 

and Therapy for the Parties [sic] Minor Child. 

The Trial Court heard testimony and received evidence on October 31, November 13, and No-

vember 26, 2019.  On the first of those days, before the Court went on the record, Nguyen, who was pro 

se at the time, left the courtroom and did not return, after he had been asked, by an attorney for the 

Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux Community’s Conservator of Estate who had responsibility for Gus-

tafson’s financial affairs, to sign a quitclaim deed for the Bloomington Property.  Nguyen informed the 

Court that he was having a panic attack and could not participate in the hearing, but he declined offers of 

assistance, and the Trial Court decided to proceed to hear Gustafson’s evidence, and to schedule an addi-

tional hearing after a transcript of the October 31 proceeding was available, in order that Nguyen could 

cross-examine Gustafson’s witnesses and present his own evidence.   

During the October 31 proceeding, the Trial Court heard direct examination of Gustafson and of 

her present husband, Andrew Bui.  During the November 13 and November 26 proceedings, Nguyen was 

represented by new counsel.  On November 13, Nguyen testified under direct examination.  On Novem-

ber 26 his direct examination concluded and he and Gustafson and Bui were cross-examined.  During the 

three days of testimony, the Trial Court received a total of twenty-seven exhibits. 

The Trial Court took the issues before it under advisement, and on January 6, 2020, it filed a 

Memorandum Opinion and Order.  For the reasons set forth in the Memorandum, the Trial Court: 

 

i. Denied Nguyen’s motion to delay consideration of sanctions 

pending a ruling, by this Court, on Nguyen’s then-pending appeal 

on the question of the Trial Court’s jurisdiction over him. 
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ii. Granted Gustafson’s motion for sanctions in the amount of 

$4,035.00 in attorney’s fees for Nguyen’s failure to comply with 

the Trial Court’s order that he timely vacate the Bloomington 

Property. 

iii. Denied Gustafson’s motion for sanctions for Nguyen’s alleged 

failure to timely respond to Gustafson’s draft of a Final Judgment 

and Decree. 

iv. Granted Gustafson’s motion for sanctions in the amount of 

$4,811.00 in attorney’s fees for Nguyen’s failure to comply with 

discovery requests that pre-dated the parties September 19, 2018 

stipulated agreement. 

v. Denied Gustafson’s motion for sanctions in the form of attorney’s 

fees incurred during the unsuccessful process of naming a Parent-

ing Consultant. 

vi. Granted sole legal and physical custody of the parties’ child to 

Gustafson,  set forth a visitation schedule, and detailed instruc-

tions on how the parents with respect to the parties communica-

tions with each other.  

 

Nguyen timely appealed the aspects of the Trial Court’s order dealing with child custody and vis-

itation and the two monetary sanction awards.  As in any appeal from an evidentiary hearing, our review 

is to determine whether the Trial Court’s findings of fact were clearly erroneous and whether it erred in its 

conclusions of law.  Kostelnik v. LSI, 1 Shak. A.C. 92, 96 (Mar. 17, 1998). 

 

4.  Child custody and visitation. 

Because the May 3, 2019 Order dealt with the parties’ custody of and visitation with their child, 

when the Trial Court was asked to modify those provisions it looked to Chapter III, Section 5 of the Do-

mestic Relations Code of the Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux Community (“the Code”).  That section pro-

vides: 

Modification of Custody Orders. 

a. Unless agreed to in writing by the parties, no motion to modify a custody 

order may be made earlier than (1) one year after the date of the entry of a 

decree of dissolution containing a provision dealing with custody, except 

in accordance with subsection c of this Section 

b. … 

c. The time limitations prescribed in subsections a and b shall not prohibit a 

motion to modify a custody order if the Tribal Court has reason to believe 

that there may be persistent and willful denial or interference with the vis-

itation, or has reason to believe that the child’s present environment may 

endanger the child’s physical or emotional health or impair the child’s 

4 Shak. A.C. 031
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emotional development.  The Tribal Court shall make such determinations 

based upon the affidavits of the parties. 

 

 

 

A.  Gustafson’s affidavit. 

In his appeal, Nguyen argues that the Trial Court erred when it concluded that the affidavit which 

Gustafson submitted in support of her motion to modify custody was, as a matter of law, sufficient to per-

mit the Trial Court to hold a hearing on the motion.  He contends that the affidavit lacked “supporting 

documentation or exhibits”, and therefore, as a matter of law, the affidavit could not create “reason to be-

lieve that there may be persistent and willful denial or interference with the visitation, or has reason to be-

lieve that the child’s present environment may endanger the child’s physical or emotional health or impair 

the child’s emotional development.”   

But Nguyen’s argument misreads both the language of Section 5.c. and the role of the Trial Court 

in this vital area.  What Section 5.c. requires, for the Trial Court to proceed to consider modifying a cus-

tody order, is something arising in the particular circumstances of a given case and set forth in an affidavit 

– and hence sworn to – that in the sound discretion of the Trial Court creates reasonable possibility that 

the deeply concerning circumstances described in the Section 5.c. may exist.  The section does not speak 

to documentation, it does not mandate that the affidavit include exhibits, it simply requires statements that 

in the sound judgment of the Trial Court make it appropriate for the parties to appear and to present testi-

mony and evidence at a hearing.   

In her October 21, 2019 affidavit Gustafson said, inter alia, that at the evidentiary hearing which 

she sought she would offer evidence that Nguyen had refused to follow the parties’ parenting time sched-

ule, had refused to support their daughter’s attendance at the International School of Minnesota preschool 

program, and had “interfered at the International School in ways that have caused enormous difficulties 

for me, school personnel and [their child], and he has refused to work with me to get  the therapy 

and behavioral assessments that the school says are essential and would only help ”.  Clearly, the 

Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that Gustafson’s affidavit created a reason to believe 

that the circumstances contemplated by Section 5.c. existed, and that an evidentiary hearing should be 

held to determine whether a change in custody was appropriate.   

 

B.  Modification of Custody. 
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Turning to the Trial Court’s decision that, based upon the evidence received during the three days 

of hearings, it should modify the custody arrangements set forth in the May 3 Order, the applicable provi-

sions of the Code are Chapter III, Sections 5.d. and 2.a.  Section 5.d speaks to the standard which must be 

applied in considering a modification of custody: 

 

d. The Tribal Court shall not modify a prior custody order after hearing on 

the motion unless it finds, upon the basis of facts that have arisen since the 

prior order or that were unknown to the Tribal Court at the time of the 

prior order, that a change has occurred in the circumstances of the child or 

the custodian and that the modification is necessary to serve the best inter-

est of the child.  In applying these standards the Tribal Court shall –retain 

the custodian established by the prior order unless the Tribal Court finds: 

 

(1) the custodian agrees to the modification; 

(2) the child has been integrated into the family of the peti-

tioner with the consent of the custodian; or 

 

(3)  the child’s present environment endangers the child’s 

physical or emotional health or impairs the child’s emo-

tional development and the harm likely to be caused by a 

change of environment is outweighed by the advantage of 

a change to the child. 

(Emphasis added.) 

 

Section 2.a. sets forth a list of factors which are or may be relevant in determining what the best 

interests of a child are: 

 

The Tribal Court shall determine custody, including physical custody and de-

cision-making responsibilities in accordance with the best interests of the 

child.  The Tribal Court shall consider all relevant factors including, but not 

limited to: 

 

(1) the capacity and willingness of each parent to ensure 

that the child receives adequate care, including but 

not limited to providing food, clothing, shelter, med-

ical care, and a safe living environment.  A safe living 

environment means an environment free of domestic 

abuse, substance abuse, maltreatment, and neglect; 

 

(2) the presence or history of domestic abuse by either 

parent, regardless of whether the abuse was directed 

against or witnessed by the child; 

 

(3) the capacity and willingness of each parent to follow 

visitation and custody orders; 
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(4) the quality of the relationship between the child and 

each parent and the capacity and willingness of the 

parent to provide love, affection, guidance, and to 

continue educating and raising the child in the child’s 

culture; 

 

(5) the capacity and willingness of each parent to facili-

tate and encourage a close and continuing parent-

child relationship between the child and the other par-

ent, the capacity and willingness of each parent to 

keep the other parent informed on matters regarding 

the child, the capacity and willingness of the parents 

to place the needs of the child first and the ability to 

cooperate with one another for the sake of the child; 

 

(6) each parent’s maturity and capacity and willingness 

to avoid conflict with one another; 

(7) the parenting skills of both parents and each parent’s 

willingness to accept full parenting responsibilities; 

 

(8) the child’s developmental or special needs and the ca-

pacity and willingness of each parent to meet those 

needs, both in the present and in the future; 

 

(9) the interaction and interrelationship of the child with 

siblings, extended family, or other people who may 

significantly affect the child’s best interests; 

 

(10) the physical, mental and emotional fitness of the par-

ties involved, including presence or history of con-

trolled substance abuse; 

 

(11) the child’s Tribal or cultural background and the 

Tribal membership/affiliation of the parent or peti-

tioning party if other than the parent; 

 

(12) the capacity and willingness of each parent to encour-

age school attendance, to be involved in school con-

ferences and activities, and to take responsibility to 

ensure school work is completed; 

 

(13) the length of time the child has lived in a stable home 

environment with either or both parents and the desir-

ability of maintaining continuity; 

 

(14) the permanence, as a family unit, of the existing or 

proposed custodial home; 

 

(15) the reasonable preference of the child, if the Tribal 

Court deems the child to be of sufficient age to ex-

press a preference; and 
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(16) the wishes of the child’s parent or parents as to cus-

tody. 

 

In applying these sections to the evidence it received during the three days of its hearings, the Trial Court 

said this: 

It is beyond doubt that the parties have an entirely dysfunctional and non-

existent co-parenting relationship.  This failure to fulfill the joint custody 

terms of the Judgment constitutes a sufficient change in circumstances to 

warrant a custody modification.  The child currently is caught in the mid-

dle of a never-ending co-parenting tug of war.  She is in a parenting envi-

ronment which endangers her emotional health and impairs her emotional 

development.  A sole custody arrangement is the appropriate and neces-

sary remedy.  The Court acknowledges that change for a child can be prob-

lematic but finds that any possible harm that might result from a change to 

a sole custody arrangement is outweighed by the advantages of a stable 

environment where there is one decisionmaker and clear boundaries be-

tween the custodial and non-custodial parents. 

 

. . . 

 

The Court finds that the child’s best interest require that [Gustafson] be 

the sole custodian.  While each parent bears a degree of responsibility for 

this co-parenting dysfunctionality, the Court finds [Nguyen] bears the bulk 

of it. 

 

Gustafson at times has not followed the required parenting schedule and 

has exhibited behavior unbecoming of a loving parent. [footnote omitted]  

She admits to struggles with substance dependency and mental health is-

sues, for which she is seeking assistance and treatment. [footnote omitted] 

These are concerning aspects for the Court to consider.  However, the 

Court assesses [Gustafson] as a basically honest individual who is willing 

to admit her faults and errors, who strives to overcome them, and who, 

most important, does her best to keep her problems from interfering with 

or undermining her daughter’s best interests.  She professes to put her 

daughter’s interests before her own. [footnote omitted].  The Court finds 

her credibility to be high in this regard. 

 

[Nguyen] also admits to not following the required parenting schedule and 

has exhibited inappropriate behavior as a parent. [footnote omitted] He 

asserts that he is the “rock” of the parental relationship with the parties’ 

daughter and provides the type of stability and guidance that, according to 

him, [Gustafson] cannot provide.  [footnote omitted]  He too professes to 

put his daughter’s best interest before his own. [footnote omitted] How-

ever, in contrast to [Gustafson] in this regard, the Court finds [Nguyen’s] 

credibility to be extremely low.  The Court does not come to this conclu-

sion lightly.  It does so only after observing t[Nguyen’s] demeanor on the 

witness stand as well as his pattern of evasive, non-compliant, and retali-

atory behavior throughout this matter. 
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The Court concludes that [Nguyen] is prone to actions and behavior that 

place his daughter in the middle of his efforts to undermine a successful 

co-parenting relationship and to find ways for it to fail.  For example, he 

admits that he unilaterally kept his daughter for extra days of “compensa-

tory” parenting time to which he was not entitled [footnote omitted].  He 

also fails to accept the Court’s Order that the child should attend the Inter-

national School of Minnesota and seeks to undermine it [footnote omitted].  

The Court is extremely concerned that the type of evasive, recalcitrant, 

non-compliant, and contemptuous behavior that [Nguyen] has shown 

throughout this matter [footnote omitted] also is evident in his role as a 

parent.  … 

 

In sum, Nguyen has exhibited a pattern of evading compliance with the 

Judgment and other Orders in this matter, as well as of hostile, manipula-

tive, and/or abusive behavior toward [Gustafson], the minor child [foot-

note omitted], professionals involved in this case, and other people in the 

child’s life.  All of this, in the Court’s view, has placed the parties’ minor 

child in an environment that endangers her emotional health and impairs 

her emotional development. Nguyen consistently and repeatedly has 

demonstrated his inability and/or unwillingness to co-parent and to place 

his daughter’s health, safety, and well-being before his own desires, anger 

and emotions. … 

 

In considering the minor child’s best interests, the Court has been particu-

larly mindful of the following statutory relevant factors for determining 

custody:   unwarranted denial of interference with duly established visita-

tion [footnote omitted], ‘the capacity and willingness of each parent to fol-

low visitation and custody orders” [footnote omitted], “the capacity and 

willingness of the parents to place the needs of the child first and the ability 

to cooperate with one another for the sake of the child” [footnote omitted], 

“each parent’s maturity and capacity and willingness to avoid conflict with 

one another” [footnote omitted], “each parent’s willingness to accept full 

parenting responsibilities” [footnote omitted], and “the child’s Tribal or 

cultural background” [footnote omitted]. 

 

The weight of the evidence and the assessment of each party’s respective 

credibility support application of these criteria in favor of  [Gustafson] be-

ing the sole custodian.5 

 

In his appeal, Nguyen argues that the Trial Court abused its discretion and committed reversible 

error in several ways.  He contends that the Trial Court’s findings with respect to his actions relating to 

the selection of a Parenting Consultant, and with respect to interference with parenting time, were “in 

contradiction with the record”.6 As to this contention, we have reviewed the testimony given and the ex-

hibits received during the three days of the Trial Court’s hearings, and we conclude that the Trial Court 

committed no reversible error when it made its custody determination.  Both parents provided extensive 

 
5 January 6, 2020 Memorandum Opinion and Order, at 20 – 24. 
6 April 7, 2020 Brief of Appellant, at 18 
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and often-conflicting testimony with respect to the reasons that no Parenting Consultant was engaged, and 

also with respect to their parenting time and visitation and various other aspects of their parenting.  The 

Trial Court, therefore, was obliged to determine what weight to give to their conflicting testimony.  That 

is a fundamental responsibility of any trial court, and one that should not be disturbed on appeal unless 

the decision clearly erroneous – meaning that it “’ is manifestly contrary to the weight of the evidence or 

not reasonably supported by the evidence as a whole.’”  Brooks v. Corwin, 2 Shak. A.C. 5, at 6 (2008) 

quoting Fraser v. Fraser, 702 N.W.2d 283, 287 (Minn. Ct. App. 2005).  Here, the Trial Judge had ex-

tended opportunity to observe the parties as they testified, and his determinations as to their credibility 

should not be disturbed. Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux (Dakota) Gaming Enterprise v Prescott, 2 Shak. 

A.C. 1 (Aug. 9, 2006).  

Nguyen also argues that as a matter of law the Trial Court’s Order does not comply with Section 

2.a. of the Code, because the Order does not name, and make explicit findings with respect to, every fac-

tor that Section 2.a. lists.  Specifically, Nguyen contends that the Trial Court should have explicitly 

named and dealt with the section’s factor numbers 2, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, and 14.   

But, as is quite clear from the portions of its Memorandum quoted above, the Trial Court did 

make explicit findings with respect to factor number 6 (each parent’s maturity and capacity and willing-

ness to avoid conflict with one another), number 7 (the parenting skills of both parents and each parent’s 

willingness to accept full parenting responsibilities), number 11 (the child’s Tribal or cultural background 

and the Tribal membership/affiliation), and number 12 (the capacity and willingness of each parent to en-

courage school attendance, to be involved in school conferences and activities, and to take responsibility 

to ensure school work is completed).   

Also, the Trial Court’s powerful discussion of the parents’ personalities and histories, as they 

were revealed by the evidence it had received, makes it clear that in its decision it considered information 

bearing on factors number 2 (the presence or history of domestic abuse by either parent, regardless of 

whether the abuse was directed against or witnessed by the child); number 4 (the quality of the relation-

ship between the child and each parent and the capacity and willingness of the parent to provide love, af-

fection, guidance, and to continue educating and raising the child in the child’s culture); number 8 (the 

child’s developmental or special needs and the capacity and willingness of each parent to meet those 

needs, both in the present and in the future); number 9 (the interaction and interrelationship of the child 

with siblings, extended family, or other people who may significantly affect the child’s best interests); 

number 10 (the physical, mental and emotional fitness of the parties involved, including presence or his-

tory of controlled substance abuse); number 13 (the length of time the child has lived in a stable home en-

vironment with either or both parents and the desirability of maintaining continuity); and number 14 (the 

permanence, as a family unit, of the existing or proposed custodial home).  When the Trial Court said that 
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“the parties have an entirely dysfunctional and non-existent co-parenting relationship,” and that their 

“child currently is caught in the middle of a never-ending co-parenting tug of war … in a parenting envi-

ronment which endangers her emotional health and impairs her emotional development,” the Trial Court 

fundamentally was speaking to the substance of each of those factors. 

Nguyen makes one argument with which we agree: the Trial Court’s reference, in its 

footnote number 67 in the January 6, 2020 Memorandum and Order, to an Order for Contempt 

that the Trial Court had filed on December 30, 2019 – and, presumably, with that reference, to 

events that prompted the Order – was not proper.  The Trial Court could not properly refer to or 

rely on any event that occurred after the closure of the record on November 26, 2019.   

However, given the body of evidence supporting the Trial Court’s findings that was properly re-

ceived during the three days of hearings, that single improper reference in one footnote constitutes harm-

less error.  We, therefore, hold that the record before the Trial Court supports its factual findings, that it 

properly applied the applicable law, and that it made no reversible error when it awarded Gustafson full 

legal and physical custody of the parties’ child. 

 

C.  Modification of Visitation. 

In addition to amending the portions of the May 3 Order relating to custody, the Trial Court’s 

January 6, 2020 Order also modified the provisions of the May 3 Order that dealt with Nguyen’s visita-

tion with the parties’ daughter, and Nguyen appeals from that modification as well.   

The portions of the Code that are relevant to this aspect of his appeal appear at Chapter III, sec-

tions 3.a. and 3.e.:  

 

a. In any proceeding for dissolution, the Tribal Court shall, upon the re-

quest of either parent, grant such rights to visitation on behalf of the 

child and noncustodial parent to maintain a child-to-parent relation-

ship.  If the Tribal Court finds, after a hearing, that visitation is likely 

to endanger the child’s physical or emotional health or impair the 

child’s emotional development, the Tribal Court shall restrict visita-

tion by the noncustodial parent as to time, place, duration, or supervi-

sion and may deny visitation entirely, as the circumstances warrant.  

A parent’s failure to pay support because of the parent’s inability to 

do so will not be sufficient cause for denial of visitation. 

 

... 

 

e.  The Tribal Court shall modify an order granting or denying visita-

tion rights whenever modification would serve the best interests of the 

child.  Except as provided below, the Tribal Court may not restrict vis-

itation rights by modification unless it finds that: 
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(1) The visitation is likely to endanger the child’s physical or emo-

tional health or impair the child’s emotional development; [or] 

 

(2) The noncustodial parent has chronically and unreasonably failed to 

comply with the Tribal Court-ordered visitation … 

 

Nguyen argues that there is no evidence in the record, other than “hearsay submitted by 

Gustafson from the joint minor child and uncorroborated testimony regarding parenting time ex-

changes7”, suggesting either that his visitation endangered the parties’ child or that he had chroni-

cally and unreasonably failed to comply with the Trial Court’s visitation order.  But the Trial 

Court expressly found Gustafson’s testimony to be more credible than Nguyen’s. Her testimony 

regarding the difficulties she encountered in holding Nguyen to the Court-ordered schedule was 

extensive and, in our view, was sufficient to justify the Trial Court’s conclusion that the visitation 

schedule should be amended.  Transcript 62:12 – 18; 66:7 – 77:14; 83:1 – 85:6 (Oct. 31, 2019). 

We therefore affirm the Trial Court’s decision with respect to visitation for the parties’ 

child.   

  

5.  Attorney’s Fee Sanctions. 

Nguyen contends that the Trial Court abused its discretion when it granted two of Gus-

tafson’s motions for attorney’s fees as sanctions for improper behavior.  We agree with one of his 

contentions.   

The record indicates that during the period before the scheduled trial date of September 

19, 2018, Nguyen repeatedly had failed to provide reasonable responses to Gustafson’s discovery 

responses, and had not complied with orders of the Trial Court related to those matters.  There-

fore before the parties entered into a stipulated settlement agreement, the imposition of monetary 

sanctions in the amounts of attorney’s fees incurred by Gustafson in her attempts to receive 

proper discovery in all likelihood would have been within the sound discretion of the Trial Court.  

In our view though, matters changed when on September 19, 2018, avoiding trial, the parties ne-

gotiated their stipulated settlement.  As we have noted above, nothing in the record suggests that, 

in the stipulation, Gustafson reserved her claim for discovery-related attorney’s fees. We think it 

is entirely reasonable to believe that the stipulation would not exist if Gustafson in fact had in-

sisted on such a reservation.  On September 19, 2018, the parties clearly intended their stipulation 

to resolve all pending issues between them (the chaotic subsequent history of their relationship 

 
7 April 7, 2020 Brief of Appellant at 28. 
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notwithstanding).  So we think that Gustafson’s power to later give new life to her claim for dis-

covery-related attorney’s fees must fail.  Her claim disappeared when she agreed to the stipula-

tion, and although the Trial Court had broad authority to consider discovery-related sanctions be-

fore it approved the parties’ stipulation, when the Trial Court approved the stipulation it lost the 

authority to grant something that Gustafson had implicitly foresworn:  it did not retain the author-

ity, that it claimed in the May 3 Order, to hear Gustafson’s motion for discovery-related sanc-

tions. 

The second attorney’s-fee sanction imposed by the Trial Court stands on different 

ground.  It arose entirely from events that followed the parties’ stipulation, when Nguyen did not 

leave the Bloomington Property by the deadline he had agreed to, and indeed when he did not im-

mediately leave after the Trial Court entered an order directing him “to immediately vacate the 

property.”  This Court observed, in Brooks v. Corwin, 2 Shak. A.C. 5 (Aug. 4, 2008), at 4 (quot-

ing Shimman v. Int’l Union of Operating Engineers, 744 F.2d 1226, 1330 (6th Cir. 1984)), that 

“[b]ad faith in the conduct of litigation, resulting in a fee award as a sanction for abuse of the ju-

dicial process, is the most familiar type of bad faith under which [attorney’s] fees are awarded”.  

Nguyen’s direct disregard both of the stipulation that the Trial Court had approved, and then of 

the Trial Court’s specific order to vacate, clearly constitutes sanctionable bad faith.  We, there-

fore, affirm the Trial Court’s order directing Nguyen to pay the attorney’s fees that Gustafson in-

curred in obtaining possession of the Bloomington Property. 

 

6. Conclusion.   

For the foregoing reasons, the portions of the Trial Court’s January 6, 2020 Order relating 

to custody and visitation of the parties’ child, and relating to sanctions for Nguyen’s failing to 

properly vacate the Bloomington Property are AFFIRMED, and the portions of the Trial Court’s 

January 6, 2020 Order relating to sanctions for failing to properly respond to discovery requests 

are REVERSED.  

 

Dated: July 10, 2020     _________________________________ 

       Chief Judge John E. Jacobson 

        

 
_________________________________ 

       Judge Terry Mason Moore 
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       _________________________________ 

       Judge Jill E. Tompkins 
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OPINION AND ORDER

PER CURIAM

On May 4, 2020, the Appellant, James Van Nguyen, appealed portions of the Order that

the Tribal Court of the Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux Community ("Trial Couft,,) entered on April

3,2020, in Court File No. 867-l ("the April 3 order") setting forth the parties' vacation parenting

times, clarifying the dates for the Tet New Year of 2021, adopting an exchange location, and re-

quiring the Appellant to provide the physical address of his home to the Appellee, Amanda Gus-

tafson, and the Trial Court' Appellant appeals from the portions of the order setting the vacation

schedule and requiring him to disclose his physical address.

For the reasons set forth below, we reverse and remand.
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I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This matter was initiated by the Appellee's petition for dissolution of the pafties' marriage

and determination of custody of the parties' minor child filed on July 20,2017. In this fifth appeal

to us, the Appellant seeks resolution of two issues: (1) whether the Trial Court erred in awarding

to the Appellant as one of his vacation weeks a week that was already awarded to him as a regular

visitation week, and (2) whether the Trial Court abused its discretion in ordering the Appellant, a

participant in the State Minnesota Data Protection for Victims of Violence program, to disclose

the address of the physical location of his home.

The majority of the history of the prior litigation between the parties before the Shakopee

Mdewakanton Sioux Courts and in other jurisdictions is detailed in our opinion in ,Iames Van

Nguyen v. Amanda Gusta/ison, File No. Ct. App. 045-19 (Jan. 21,2020). The limited procedural

record pertinent to the present appeal is as follows. On May 3,21lg, the Trial Court issued its

Findings o/ Fact, Conclusions oJ'Law, Order.for Final Judgment, Judgment and Decree (,,May

3''d Judgment"). A regular visitation schedule rotating parenting time between the parties on a four

days on four days off schedule, and a holiday and school release schedule was ordered. The yaca-

tion schedule was to be determined as follows: "Each party is granted three non-consecutive weeks

of vacation time with the minor child, which shall supersede the four-day rotation schedule, and

which shall not disrupt the . . . holiday schedule. Said vacation time shall be selected and mutually

agreed upon no later than April 1't of the year for which said vacation time is sought.,,

Following the issuance of the May 3rd Judgment, the parties continued to have disagree-

ments on a range of issues. The details of the conflicts and proceedings that followed the judgment

are set forth in this Court's recent opinion, James Van Nguyen v. Amanda Gustu/'son,File No. Ct.

App' 047-20 (July 10,2020). On October 27,2019, the Appellee moved the Trial Court to modify
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its earlier judgment to grant her sole legal andphysical custody of the minor child and to limit the

Appellant's visitation to alternating weekends, vacations, holidays, and extended time during the

summer months. After carefully considering the relevant factors detailed in the Shakopee

Mdewakanton Sioux (Dakota) Community Domestic Relations Code, Chapter IIl, Section 2 a.,the

Trial Court found that it was in the minor's child best interest that the Appellee be the child,s sole

custodian. Memorandum Opinion and Order, Court File 867-17, Jan.6,2l2},Buffalo, J. at24.

Consequently, the Trial Court modified the provisions of the May 3rd Judgment concerning place-

ment and visitation. In its Memorandum Opinion and Order issued on January 6,2020, the Trial

Court adopted the following modifications, in pertinent part:

6. Petitioner's Motion seeking to Modiff custody and place-
ment of the Parties' Minor chitd. The petitioner,s Motion
(Docket #208) seeking to modifu custody and placement of the par-
ties' minor child and to provide reasonable visitation rights is
granted as follows.

a. custody and Placement. The petitioner Amanda Gail Gus-
tafson shall have sole legal custody and sole physical custody of
the parties' minor child . . . sole physical ,r*iody means that the
minor child shall reside with the petitioner at all times except
yhgl the Respondent may exercise visitation rights as provided
in this order.

e. Parenting Time/x'ather's visitation Rights. consistent with
the Petitioner's sole legal custody and physical custody rights,
the Petitioner shall have placement of the parties, minoichild at
all times not specifically awarded to the Respondent as visitation
rights as provided in the following schedule:

1) Every other weekend. The Respondent shall have visitation
every other weekend from no later that 5:00 p.m. on Friday until
no later than 5:00 p.m. on Sunday. . . .

Page 3 of9
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3) Summer Break. Starting the first Friday after the school year
ends, the Respondent shall have visitation every third week dur-
ing the summer from Friday at 5:30 p.m. until the following Fri-
day at 5:30 p.m. . . .

4) Extended Vacation Schedule. Each party shall have three non-
consecutive weeks of vacation tirne with the minor child, which
shall supersede the alternating weekend visitation schedule but
shall not disrupt the above holiday schedule. Said vacation time
shall be selected and mutually agreed upon no later than April 1

of each year for the following 12 months until March : t of ttre
followingyear....

6) Logistics and Arrangements for Visitation. Unless the parties
agree in advance, all exchanges for visitation shall take piace at
a neutral site. . . .

Id. at28-29.

Under the modification, the Appellant's summer break visitation commences on the Friday

before the first week following the end of the school year, and thereafter occurs every three weeks.

II. VACATION TIME

The Appellee filed a motion seeking expedited review without a hearing on February 12,

2020, seeking an order sealing the court file records, prohibiting the Appellant from taking a fourth

week of vacation and approving the third week of her vacation time for the year. The resulting

order issued on February 28,2020, approved the Appellee's requested third week of vacation,

reserved its ruling on the outstanding issues, and ordered that "The parties shall provide to the

Court the dates for the 3 non-consecutive weeks of vacation by close of business on April 1,2020.,,

order, Court File 867-17, Feb. 28,2020, Buffalo, J. By email dated March 3l,Zl;:},the Appel-

lee's counsel wrote to the Court Clerk and set forth the three vacation weeks that the Appellee was

requesting for the period from April I,2020 through March 31,202L A Declaration from the
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Appellant was filed with the Trial court in which he makes numerous vague and unclear requests

for vacation weeks' In paragraph 3, he requests that he be allowed to exercise vacation time duri,g

both the winter and spring breaks of the school year. Under the original May 3rd Judgment par-

enting time provisions, spring break and winter break are under the "Holiday and School Release

Schedule" and those days are specifically allocated to each parent in the year 202Oin accordance

with the regular parenting schedule, and alternate between the parents in subsequent years. The

May 3'd Judgment visitation provisions were left undisturbed in the court,s January 6th order,

with the exception that the holiday and school release schedule would supersede the Appellant,s

every-other-weekend visitation schedule. Given the specific assignment of the spring and winter

breaks to each parent annually, it would be reasonable to conclude that those weeks are not avail-

able as vacation weeks to the parent that is not designated to receive parenting time.

In Paragraph 4, of the Appellant's Declaration, under the section titled.,vacation Sched-

ule"' he states that his first week of "summer Break" visitation (under the January 6tr, order) is

June 12' 2020 through June I g, 2020. This is a week to which he is entitled to regular visitation

during the summer months. He then requests to elect, as a vacation week, the fbllowing week of
June 19'2020 to June 26,2020, as his first vacation week. In paragraph 5 of his Declaration,

under the heading "vacation," he states that he would like to take the minor child to a wedding on

october 3' 2020' At the time that the parties were directed by the Trial court to submit their

vacation dates' the International School of Minnesota had not posted yet the 2020-202l school

calendar' The School has since posted its start dates.l This court takes judicial notice of the fact

that for students in grades 1 through 12, which includes the parties, minor child, school starts on

ited August 9,2020).
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August 25,2020. Appellant's regular school year visitation starls with every weekend after the

start of school, which would September 5-6, 2020, September lg-20,2020, and October 2-3,

2020. october 3,2020 already falls within his regular visitation weekend. Thus, it appears that

Appellant only explicitly requested one vacation week, June I g,202)to June 26,2020.

The April 3'd Order reflects that the Trial Court construed the Appellant's request to be for

a vacation week in the spring and a vacation week in the winter. Given the confusing presentation

of his Declaration, this is not an unreasonable interpretation by the Trial Court. The Trial Courl

granted the Appellant vacation weeks of June 72,2020,through June l g,2O2O,and June 19,Z02O

through June26,2020, and December 19, z)z),through December 26,2O2O.The Trial Court also

granted the Appellant visitation on the weekend of October 3,2O2O,to October 4,2O2O,to facili-

tate his and the minor child's attendance at the wedding if it occurs.

On May 4,2020, the Appellant commenced this appeal by filing a Memorandum of Law

in Support of Appeal of April 3,2020,Order. In his Memorandum, concerning the vacation weeks,

the Appellant states, "As I am seeking to exercise my vacation times during the winter and spring

breaks . ' .. [t]he dates I can provide are an estimate of this and would reflect the same December

and March dates Ms. Gustafson has requested in her notice to the court yesterday.,,Id. at 5. He

objects to the January 6th Order because "[He] was provided two of the three weeks [he] requested

at the cost of a week of vacation parenting time." we agree that the Appellant was already entitled

to the week of June 12, 2020, to June 19,2020, as his regular summer break visitation, and it,

therefore, was an abuse of discretion to design ate thatweek as a vacation week. The Appellant is

entitled to one more week of vacation time. This Court recently opined in James Van Nguyen v.

Amandq Gustafsrn, File No. ct. App. 045-19 (Jan. 21,2020) that,

'oDistrict courts have broad discretion on matters of custody and par-
enting time." Hansen v. Todnem, 90g N.w.2d 592, sdo 6rainn.
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Id. at 16-17.

It was relevant to the allocation and designation of the vacation time that June 12,2020 to

June 1 9,2020 was previously designated as one of Appellant's regular summer visitation weeks.

Accordingly, we reverse the portion of the April 3 Order that set the vacation schedule and remand

to the Trial Courl for reconsideration of the decision regarding the Appellant,s vacation weeks.

III. DISCLOSURE OF PHYSICAL ADDRESS

During the proceedings below, the Appellant provided the Trial Court with documentation

establishing that he is a participant in Minnesota's "Safe at Home" program, under which Minne-

sota law bars persons or government officials from requiring program participants to provide their

actual physical addresses. The provisions creating this bar appear at Minnesota Statutes $58.05(a):

2018). Review of decisions 0n parenting time is typically ,,limited

to whether the district court abused its discretion by making findings
unsupported by the evidence or by improperly applying the law.,,7n
re Custody of N.A.K., 649 N.W.2 d, 166,174 (Minn. 2002). An abuse
ofdiscretion occurs "ifa relevant factor that should have been given
significant weight is not considered, if an irrelevant or impropei fac-
tor is considered and given significant weight, or if a court commits
a clear error ofjudgment in the course of weighing proper factors.,,
Aaron v. Target Corp.,357 F.3d 769,774 (gth Cir. )OO+1..

when a pro-gram participant presents the address designated by the
secretary of state to any person, that address must be accepted as the
address of the program participant. The person may not require theploggm participant to submit any address that cLuld be used to
physically locate the participant either as a substitute or in addition
to the designated address, or as a condition of receiving a service or
benefit, unless the service or benefit would be impossib"le to provide
_without knowledge of the program participant's physical location.
Notwithstanding a person's or entity;s knowledge ofu p.og.u- pur-
ticipant's physical location, the peison or entity must use the pro-
gram participant's designated address for all mail correspondence
with the program participant.
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Notwithstanding the breadth and clarity of this provision, the Trial Court in its April 3rd

Order directed the Appellant to "provide the physical address of the location of his home where

he engages in his parenting time to the Court and the Petitioner in case of emergency,', and to

"notify the Court and the Petitioner of any changes of the physical address of where [he] engages

in his parenting time at least 30 days prior to any change". In doing so, the Trial Court did not

identify any exception to the requirements of Minnesota Statutes 858.05(a) that would authorize

its mandate; in the materials she has filed with us, the Appellee has cited none to us; and in our

view there is none.

This is an instance where Public Law 280,28 U.S.C. $1360(a), applies - where ,,the laws

of fMinnesota] that are of general application to private persolls or private property shall have the

same force and effect" within the Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux Community, and for members of

the Community, "as they have elsewhere within the State." When the Community adopted its

Domestic Relations Code, it did not expressly or implicitly modify the effect of Minnesota Statutes

$5B'05(a), and the effect of the provision, here and generally, is not such that any fundamental

interest of the community is damaged. Given the digital resources that now exist, there are ample

ways for the Appellee and her counsel to communicate with the Appellant, and vice versa, to

ensure that the interests of the parties' child, and of the Appellee, are protected; and should the

Appellant fail to honor his obligations to the Appellee or to the child, the Trial court clearly has

the power to sanction him by, inter alia, reducing or suspending his visitation with the parlies,

child pending his compliance.

Page 8 of9
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IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the appeal is granted. Accordingly, we reverse and remand for

reconsideration the Trial Courl's decision on the Appellant's parental visitation vacation weeks,

and we reverse and vacate the portion of the April 3rd Order that mandated the Appellant's dis-

closure ofhis physical address.

Dated: August _,2020

Chief Judge John E. Jacobson

@,*
Judge Terry Mason Moore

,l- r' ,/

' ,P Z ,*/r?-4^*
Judge Jill E. Tompkins
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COURT OF APPEALS OF THE SHAKOPEE MDEWAKANTON SIOUX COMMUNITY 

SMSC RESERVATION        STATE OF MINNESOTA 

James Van Nguyen, 

Appellant, 

vs.   File No. Ct. App. 046-19 

Amanda Gustafson, 

Appellee. 

OPINION AND ORDER 

PER CURIAM 

This matter was commenced on July 20, 2017, when the Appellee petitioned for dissolution 

of the parties’ marriage and for determination of custody of the parties’ minor child.  The parties 

ultimately were divorced by order of the Trial Court on May 3, 2019, and as we noted in our 

opinion in James Van Nguyen v. Amanda Gustafson, File No. Ct. App. 045-19 (August 10, 2020), 

most of the history of the litigation between the parties, before the Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux 

Courts and in other jurisdictions, was detailed in our opinion in James Van Nguyen v. Amanda 

Gustafson, File No. Ct. App. 045-19 (Jan. 21, 2020). 

The particular proceedings that are pertinent to this appeal began after the filing of the Trial 

Court’s divorce decree when the Appellee filed a motion for sanctions and a change of custody. 

In response to that motion, the Trial Court conducted three days of evidentiary hearings.  The third 

of those hearings took place on November 26, 2019, and seventeen days after that hearing the 

Appellant sent the following email to the Clerk of Court: 

Filed on September 1, 2020
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From: James Nguyen [mailto:jamesisgolden@gmail.com] 
Sent:  Friday, December 13, 219 1019 a.m. 
To   Lynn McDonald; Jonathan D. Miller 
Subject:  Re: Rule 34 

Lynn, 

I’m hoping we can move forward here with a better understanding of one another.  On the 
last day of trial we recently had in court file 867-17 you made me feel very uncomfortable. 
When Ms. Gustafson was on the stand and Mr. Miller was playing the video where I was 
being assaulted by strangulation and with a weapon, you kept staring at me with a creepy 
smile.  My attorney noticed this as well.  I found this to be profoundly inappropriate, un-
professional, and outside your official duties of a court clerk.  Perhaps you are attracted to 
me and somehow a video of me being beaten created some sick pleasure in you which is 
interesting as I’m guessing you’re in your 70s.  This would make you as old as my mother 
and I am just going to have to stop the buck right here and let you know I am in no way 
attracted to you and please don’t be sad or mad that you and I will never be anything more 
than pals at best.  Please know whether your behavior was in an effort to be a sexual ad-
vance or simply that of a bully, both circumstances are upsetting, disgusting and repulsive 
and I hope you can exercise better judgement in the future.  I ask that you please keep your 
behavior professional in nature.  That being said, can you explain to me why Rule 34 states 
a filing fee of $100 but you want me to pay $200?  You made your position clear that you 
won’t advise me as the court clerk if a form is approved by the tribal court or not and that 
I must pay @200 contrary to the Rules of Civil Procedure.  I will pay the $200 and I will 
address the matter with the judge. 

In response to that e-mail, on December 18, 2019, the Trial Court issued a summons for a 

show cause hearing, to take place on December 23, 2019, to determine if Appellant should be held 

in contempt of court.   Appellant and his counsel filed affidavits on December 20, 2019, describing 

scheduling conflicts that would prevent their presence on December 23rd.  The Trial Court none-

theless held a hearing on December 23rd, at which Ms. Gustafson and her attorney were present 

and Appellant and his attorney were not. On December 30, 2019, the Trial Court issued the fol-

lowing order, holding Appellant in contempt: 

1. The Court finds the Respondent in Contempt of Court for his commu-
nication to the Clerk of Court on December 13, 2019.

2. The Respondent is prohibited from sending or engaging in any commu-
nication to the Court or to any court personnel regarding the same or
similar matters addressed in his December 13, 2019, email to the Clerk
of Court other than through the proper process and procedures of this
Court and then only in a manner that is lawful and respectful of both the
[sic] judicial process and judicial officials.
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3. The Respondent shall submit a letter of apology delivered to the Clerk 

of Court no later than the close of business on January 2, 2020. 
 

4. The Respondent is fined in the amount of $500.00 to be paid to the court 
within 30 days of the date of this order. 
 

In issuing its order, the Trial Court concluded that it had the inherent power to require the 

respect and decorum that is necessary to the orderly and expeditious disposition of cases and pro-

ceedings, and it concluded that the Appellant’s email was not a good faith effort to resolve a com-

plaint about a court employee, but instead was designed to humiliate and harass a court official, 

personally and professionally.  With respect to the timing of its hearing, the Trial Court stated it 

was acting to protect the integrity of the judicial process and judicial personnel from unfounded 

and unwarranted allegations and to deter further actions that disrespect the Court.   

In this appeal, Appellant contends: (i) that Chapter IV, Section 4(m) of the Domestic Re-

lations Code of the Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux Community, which the Trial Court cited in its 

December 18, 2019 Contempt of Court Summons, relates to a party’s actions that disregard “lawful 

orders”, and that his actions violated no order; (ii) that his actions did not threaten the Trial Court’s 

“immediate ability to conduct its proceedings” and therefore, there was no justification for the 

compressed timeframe established by the Trial Court’s Contempt of Court Summons; (iii) that, 

given the fact that his actions did not take place in open court, the Trial Court did not afford him 

appropriate procedural safeguards by way of an opportunity to call witnesses and present evidence 

in his defense; (iv) that the Trial Court improperly invoked its inherent authority to impose con-

tempt of court sanctions, because the Appellant’s conduct did not take place “within a court pro-

ceeding”;   (v) that the Trial Court did not find that the Appellant’s action defamed the Court or its 

personnel because there was no evidence that he had “published” a statement that was false and 

that had damaged the Court’s reputation, and (vi) that the $500.00 penalty imposed by the Trial 

Court was a criminal penalty, because the Appellant had not opportunity to purge himself of it. 

We address these contentions seriatim.  

 1. The Court’s Inherent Authority.  Although Chapter IV, Section 4(m) of the Domestic 

Relations Code of the Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux Community was cited by the Trial Court in 

its Contempt of Court Summons as a potential source of authority for a contempt order, it is not 

the only source the Community’s judiciary has to ensure that its processes and its personnel are 
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protected.  The Trial Court correctly noted, in its Summons and in its December 30, 2019 Order, 

that inherent authority exists, beyond the terms of the Community’s ordinances, for such protec-

tion, and it was that authority which the Trial Court ultimately invoked.  Given the nature of the 

Appellant’s actions, and his failure to deny them or to ameliorate them in any way, the exercise of 

that authority was entirely appropriate.   

 2.  The Direct and Immediate Threat to the Court’s Processes.  The Appellant’s actions – 

which, again, he does not deny  – could very properly be regarded as a direct and immediate threat 

to the Court and to its personnel.  The fact that the Appellant’s message was delivered to the 

Court’s offices digitally rather than during an in-court proceeding is immaterial to its potential 

effect.  As the United States District Court for the Western District of Virginia noted, in United 

States v. Henry, 2008 WL 2625359 (W.D. Va. 2008), where an e-mail was sent by a litigant to the 

Court’s law clerk and was held to be an appropriate ground for a contempt proceeding: 

While the invective in the email is not directed at the court, it was 
communicated directly to the court's law clerk. Plainly, such state-
ments would be contemptuous if uttered in open court. The court 
sees no difference in making such statements in an email sent to the 
court's law clerk as they are plainly disrespectful and constitute an 
insult to the dignity of the court and an affront to our system of jus-
tice. 

Here, in its December 30, 2019 Order, the Trial Court reached a similar conclusion –  

Here the Court finds the Respondent’s communication to be back-
handed allegations and improper personal attacks on a court official 
in this proceeding.  Further, [Appellant’s] communication was noth-
ing more than a thinly veiled effort to vent his anger, to disparage 
this Court, and to harass and humiliate the Clerk both as an official 
of this Court and personally.  It was not an effort to lodge a good-
faith complaint in the appropriate manner about any particular way 
in which this case has been handled or about the conduct of a judicial 
official.  This Court is the proper forum for raising, through a motion 
or other filing, any complaint or allegation about  how this matter is 
proceeding or about the conduct of a judicial official in this court-
room.  The Court will not countenance self-help efforts, especially 
those involving rude and disrespectful comments directed toward 
court officials personally. 

 

 We agree.  The Appellant’s direct communication to the Court’s clerk was an affront to 

the Court and its processes, to which prompt and decisive response was appropriate.   
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3.  The Timing of the Trial Court’s Actions.  We also conclude that the timing of the Trial 

Court’s response was appropriate.   The Appellant was given notice, a show cause order, and a 

chance to respond to the contempt charges.  He was represented by counsel.  In the materials 

Appellant and his counsel filed on December 20th, describing scheduling conflicts, no request was 

made for the Trial Court to permit participation by telephone conference.  Had he chosen to par-

ticipate on December 23rd, the Appellant could have sought to persuade the Trial Court that sanc-

tions were not warranted, and/or that his behavior would not be repeated, and/or that he recognized 

the inappropriateness of what he had done, thus potentially purging his contempt. Under these 

circumstances, the requirements that attend the imposition of a civil contempt order – simple notice 

and an opportunity to be heard – were met.  Hicks v. Feiock, 485 U.S. 624 (1988). 

4.  Inherent Authority for Actions Outside of Court Proceedings.  As we note above, the 

fact that the Appellant was not present in a courtroom when he did what he did and said what he 

said on December 13, 2019 is immaterial to the damage that his actions could work if they were 

left unaddressed.  Therefore, that fact also is immaterial to the ability of the Trial Court to address 

them.  The judiciary of the Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux Community has a profound obligation 

to protect its personnel from harassment, and to ensure that court processes – administrative  and 

judicial  – are respected.  Therefore, again, what the Trial Court did in response to the Appellant’s 

actions was appropriate. 

5.  Immateriality of the Definition of Defamation.  Simply put, there is no legal basis for 

the Appellant’s contention that the Trial Court was obliged to find that his actions would support 

a civil judgment of defamation – that he had “published a statement of fact” concerning the Court 

which “damaged [its] reputation and lowered its estimation in the community” – as a precondition 

to the Trial Court’s finding him in contempt of court. In considering the Appellant’s e-mail to the 

clerk, the Trial Court said –  

Here the Court finds Respondent’s communication to be back-
handed allegations and improper personal attacks on a court official 
in this proceeding.  Further, the Respondent’s communication was 
nothing more than a thinly veiled effort to vent his anger, to dispar-
age this Court, and to harass and humiliate the Clerk both as an of-
ficial of this Court and personally.   

These findings certainly are sufficient to support an exercise of the Trial Court’s inherent author-

ity to protect its personnel and its processes by contempt of court proceedings.    
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6. Nature of the Penalty Imposed.  The Trial Court did not specify, in its Contempt of

Court Summons or in its December 30, 2019 Order, whether its proceedings were in the nature 

of civil contempt or criminal contempt, but in its December 30 Order the Trial Court explicitly 

said –  

Had they appeared and participated in the Show Cause hearing Re-
spondent and his counsel would have had the opportunity to rebut 
information calling into question the veracity of their allegations.   

. . . 

The Respondent and his counsel chose their course of action regard-
ing a possible contempt finding.  They disregarded a lawful order of 
this Court at their own peril.  No one other than the Respondent him-
self is responsible for why the hearing was necessary. 

(Emphasis added.) 

From this we conclude that the Trial Court’s proceedings were civil.  The Appellant 

had the opportunity to purge himself of contempt, and to thus avoid the penalty.  So, given 

the Appellant’s failure to purge, or even attempt to purge, the offensive conduct, we con-

clude that imposing the $500.00 penalty was, and continues to be, appropriate.   

For the foregoing reasons, the appeal is dismissed and the Trial Court’s decision is 

affirmed. 

Dated:  September 1, 2020 

Chief Judge John E. Jacobson 

Judge Terry Mason Moore 

Judge Jill E. Tompkins 
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